**S283862**

No. S283862

---

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA**

---

GILEAD TENOFOVIR CASES

---

GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.,  
*Petitioner,*

*v.*

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE CITY AND  
COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO,  
*Respondent;*

and

PLAINTIFFS IN JCCP NO. 5043,  
*Real Parties in Interest.*

---

Review of a decision from the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District,  
Division Four, No. A165558  
San Francisco County Superior Court No. CJC-19-005043  
Hon. Andrew Y.S. Cheng

---

**PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

---

Elizabeth Bixby (SBN 325059)  
ORRICK, HERRINGTON &  
SUTCLIFFE LLP  
355 S. Grand Avenue, Suite 2700  
Los Angeles, CA 90071  
(213) 629-2020

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. When a plaintiff sues a manufacturer claiming injury from the manufacturer's product, must the plaintiff prove that the product is defective?

2. Did the Court of Appeal err in concluding that a manufacturer of a non-defective product has a duty to develop, without delay, a different product that is safer for some consumers?

## INTRODUCTION<sup>1</sup>

The Court of Appeal overrode a century of common law to impose on manufacturers a duty that no court anywhere in the country has ever suggested. Whereas the common law requires manufacturers to produce non-defective, reasonably safe products, the Court of Appeal has added a duty to develop and commercialize, without delay, a *different* product that is safer for some consumers. This duty weaponizes innovation across industries, undermining public welfare by inhibiting research and development of lifesaving and lifechanging products.

Gilead Sciences, Inc. invented HIV medicines based on a compound called "TDF," which helped transform HIV from a death sentence into a manageable chronic illness. No one disputes that in marketing the TDF medicines, Gilead fulfilled every previously recognized duty that a manufacturer owes to its

---

<sup>1</sup> This brief cites the Court of Appeal opinion as "Op." and amicus letters and briefs as "\_\_\_ Ltr." and "\_\_\_ Br." according to the name of the lead amicus. "\_\_\_ COA Br." denotes that the brief was filed in the Court of Appeal.

consumers: design and manufacture a reasonably safe product, and adequately warn of any known risks. Plaintiffs have never claimed there was any defect in the manufacturing process. There is no design defect because it is undisputed that the benefits of these lifesaving medicines vastly outweigh their risks. Like all medicines, TDF has side effects—albeit ones that affect a fraction of 1% of patients. But Plaintiffs have abandoned any claim that Gilead failed to warn of those side effects. That should have been the end of the matter.

The Court of Appeal, however, let Plaintiffs' negligence claim proceed, based on Gilead's decisions about a *different* compound, "TAF," which would later prove to lessen those side effects for some people. Gilead had investigated TAF as a backup to TDF. Preliminary data on TAF, however, showed it to be no safer than TDF and to carry *additional* potential side effects. So Gilead stopped TAF development in 2004 and focused on developing improved TDF-based medicines instead. Gilead's focus on TDF yielded groundbreaking therapies that FDA and the patient community had been requesting and which benefited the entire population of people living with HIV. But Plaintiffs contend that Gilead should have continued developing TAF.

The Court of Appeal found a duty to continue developing and to market a different product in Civil Code § 1714, a general negligence statute requiring all persons to exercise "ordinary care." The court believed that § 1714 imposes, and since its enactment in 1872 has always imposed, this additional duty on manufacturers—even though no court had ever recognized it. But

§ 1714 does not override painstakingly calibrated common-law rules, much less the entire body of products-liability law, which requires manufacturers simply to produce reasonably safe products—i.e., products free of defect in manufacturer, design, and warnings.

The Court of Appeal’s dramatic departure from common law is unwarranted and unwise, as the many petition-stage amici attested. The defect requirement fully protects consumer safety—encouraging manufacturers to research and develop groundbreaking and improved new products, and to market only the reasonably safe ones. The Court of Appeal replaced it with a rule that provides no meaningful standard for assessing a manufacturer’s conduct. The rule will make us all less safe. If manufacturers can be held liable upon acquiring information about a possible safer product, they will veto research projects directed at acquiring that information. Manufacturers will also prioritize marginal improvements to existing non-defective products to avoid litigation rather than breakthrough new products with far greater value to the public. And the duty will doom manufacturers to a no-win cycle of liability, transforming every product-development decision into a potential lawsuit over the path not taken—or taken, but allegedly not quickly enough. All this undermines consumer welfare—sacrificing affordability, choice, and the development of beneficial new products—without enhancing safety.

This Court should reject the Court of Appeal’s duty.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### *Gilead Develops TDF, A Lifesaving HIV Medicine*

This case is about medicines that helped transform HIV treatment. HIV was fatal through the 1990s. (1App.221-22, 228-31, 241-42.) Treatments were ineffective, complicated, and highly toxic. (1App.232-36, 249-53.) This was the bleak landscape Gilead confronted in 1991 as a small biotech company researching possible HIV medicines, including a compound called tenofovir. (1App.50, 340-41.)

It took six years of “preclinical” research—research in test tubes, petri dishes, and animals—for Gilead to discover a candidate promising and safe enough to test in humans: tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF). (1App.45, 340-41; 4App.1253-83.) It took another four years of “clinical” research—trials in humans (here, well over a thousand patients)—to amass evidence sufficient for FDA approval of the first TDF medicine, Viread®, in October 2001. (1App.146, 201-02; 6App.1814-18.)

TDF proved to be a game changer: It enabled people with HIV to live normal lives with far less severe side effects. (1App.232-36.) Because of those astounding results, Gilead made TDF the backbone for a series of improved medicines. At the urging of FDA and the patient community, Gilead concentrated its finite resources on overcoming one of the most significant challenges to the effectiveness of HIV treatments: patient non-compliance. Patients had to take multiple medicines stored at different temperatures, on different schedules, including in the middle of the night. Many people could not keep up, resulting in

resistant strains that made the medicines totally ineffective. (6App.1968.) It was a matter of life and death. What people living with HIV desperately needed was a combination of medicines in a single pill that could be taken once a day. (See FDA, Guidance for Industry on Fixed Dose Combinations and Co-Packaged Drug Products for Treatment of HIV; Availability, 69 Fed.Reg. 28931 (May 19, 2004).)

It took five more years of research after Viread® for Gilead to achieve that breakthrough in 2006. (1App.201 [Atripla®].) FDA lauded it as a “watershed in HIV treatment.” (FDA, *The History of FDA’s Role in Preventing the Spread of HIV/AIDS* (Mar. 14, 2019), <https://tinyurl.com/5ff32dyc>.)

Like any medicine, TDF can have side effects. As relevant here, they include possible effects on bone density and kidney function. (1App.151; see, e.g., 2App.480, 487-88.) Those risks are remote, affecting 0.002% and 0.11% of patients, respectively, per year. (7App.2355, 2358-60.) From the beginning, an FDA-approved label has alerted patients and physicians to the potential side effects. (10App.3102.)

As Plaintiffs concede, Gilead provided FDA all necessary information about TDF, including its side effects, and FDA correctly found that each TDF medicine’s benefits outweighed its risks. (10App.3099-103; COA.Arg.Tr. 41-44.) FDA has never withdrawn approval for any TDF medicine (10App.3103), reflecting that TDF remains safe, effective, and approved for use (see COA.Arg.Tr. 41). The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and the World Health Organization still

recommend TDF as a first-line HIV therapy. (3App.991-95, 997, 1018-19.)

***Gilead Investigates TAF As A Backup, But Stops TAF Development For Failing To Meet Benchmarks***

As groundbreaking as TDF turned out to be, it was never a sure thing. Even with the most promising preclinical data, clinical trials are highly unpredictable: Fewer than one in eight candidates that start clinical trials ultimately obtain FDA approval. (Op. 43.) Backup candidates are therefore essential. So with TDF well into clinical trials, Gilead began investigating tenofovir alafenamide (TAF) in 1999. (3App.1171-88.)

TAF's preclinical results were mixed. More tenofovir appeared to reach target cells (which could be good), but more tenofovir also reached cells that were not targeted (which could be bad). (5App.1665-66, 1669, 1688, 1717-21; 7App.2292.) TAF also appeared to be more toxic than TDF in dogs and rats. (5App.1688.) A member of the development team warned of TAF's "potential toxicity" because it accumulated in bone. (5App.1723.) TAF's development was so far behind TDF's that Gilead did not obtain FDA authority to test TAF in humans until after Viread<sup>®</sup> was already on the market. (10App.3096, 3104.)

To continue developing TAF would have cost tens of millions of dollars, years of further study, and massive human resources. (7App.2313; 10App.3108-09, 3114-15.) That investment would have been wasted unless evidence showed TAF to have "significant benefits" over TDF *in humans*—i.e., to be materially superior to TDF—rather than "a mere replacement"

for TDF. (6App.1901, 1903; see 5App.1670.) Without such data, all those resources would be better devoted to developing the watershed single-tablet regimen built around TDF. Gilead’s development team thus devised concrete, measurable “go/no go” criteria reflecting the requisite level of improvement. (6App.1901, 1903.)

To test TAF against these development criteria, Gilead designed a limited Phase I/Phase II trial, called “Study 1101”—the only source of data on TAF in humans in the relevant time frame. (7App.2285; 10App.3105.) Phase I trials are small and short, focusing mainly on evaluating how a drug works in the human body, side effects associated with increasing dosages, and preliminary efficacy. (21 C.F.R. § 312.21(a).) Phase II trials “aren’t large enough to show whether the drug will be beneficial” but “provide researchers with additional safety data” and efficacy information that inform protocols for pivotal and large-scale Phase III trials. (FDA, Step 3: Clinical Research (2018), <https://tinyurl.com/fda-iii>; 21 C.F.R. § 312.21(b), (c).) For the most part, only Phase III trials can amass the evidence necessary to satisfy FDA that a treatment is sufficiently safe and effective to be approved. (See 21 C.F.R. § 312.21(c).) Phase III studies “provide most of the safety data” during clinical trials because they “are larger and longer in duration, [and] the results are more likely to show long-term or rare side effects.” (FDA, Step 3, *supra*.)

Consistent with Phase I and II goals, the limited Phase I/II clinical study of TAF was very small and short. (7App.2280-301.)

It entailed administering TAF to 20 patients and TDF to 10 patients, for a mere 14 days. (7App.2287, 2296.) Its purpose was to provide “preliminary evaluation of both the antiviral potency and viral dynamics of [TAF] compared with [TDF].” (7App.2293.)

Study 1101 was completed in February 2003. Like the earlier preclinical results, Study 1101’s results were mixed. Although the study showed “increase[d] ... distribution” of TAF in targeted cells (7App.2301), its bottom line was that TAF failed to meet Gilead’s pre-set criteria to be materially more effective than TDF (6App.1901, 1903 [defining benchmarks]; 7App.2289 [reporting efficacy results]).

Critically, the study found that TAF “showed safety profiles *similar* to that of [TDF]”—not, as Plaintiffs assert, that TAF was safer. (7App.2301 [study results], italics added.) Meanwhile, other data emerged suggesting that TAF might cause different side effects. A long-term nine-month toxicology study in dogs showed that TAF might cause cardiovascular and thyroid effects not associated with TDF. (7App.2304, 2321.) These results raised questions about TAF’s “potential for long term safety,” particularly at high doses. (7App.2304-05.)

Based on this divergent scientific evidence, Gilead decided to stop TAF development in 2004. Although there were “[p]oints in favor of continuing development,” “[a] number of [Development Committee] members expressed the opinion” that TAF’s “emerging profile ... does not appear to be sufficiently differentiated from Viread.” (7App.2321.) In their view, TAF’s “distribution profile” made “*predictability of safety impossible*.”

(*Ibid.*, italics added.) Dr. Norbert Bishofberger, Gilead’s Senior Vice President of Research and Development, made the final decision. (2App.462.) In so doing, he relied on the science—most notably, years of data in the real world from tens of thousands of people that had proved TDF to be safe, effective, and well-tolerated, while Study 1101 had not shown TAF to be safer or meaningfully more effective than TDF. (*Ibid.*)

***Gilead Restarts TAF Development, Spending Tens Of Millions Of Dollars To Further Investigate TAF***

Having achieved the TDF-based single-tablet watershed that benefited millions of patients, in 2010, Gilead turned its attention to a new problem—one arising from TDF’s extraordinary effectiveness. People were living longer with HIV than anyone dared to hope, and with age comes bone-density loss and reduced kidney function, the same rare side effects associated with TDF. (8App.2653; 9App.2832.)

TAF was a logical option to explore on the chance that it might prove to be a lower-dose alternative for that aging population. (9App.2832-33, 2928-29; 10App.3108.) But Gilead’s contemporaneous internal deliberations expressed continued uncertainty that TAF was any safer than TDF: Researchers considered it a “[h]igh” “[p]robability,” “Major Risk[]” that TAF’s “safety profile” “may not be different from that of TDF.” (8App.2566, 2604.) They also continued to harbor concerns that TAF might be less safe than TDF. (8App.2574; *ante* 13, 15.) Only Phase III studies and large-scale head-to-head testing could allay those concerns.

In 2011, Gilead started its first Phase III study of TAF. For reasons described above, only 25-30% of drug candidates entering Phase III trials receive FDA approval. (*Ante* 13; see FDA, Step 3, *supra*.) TAF was in that minority. After more than four years of additional clinical research (including multiple head-to-head studies with TDF) and at least \$82 million, Gilead obtained FDA approval for the first TAF medicine. (1App.152-53; 7App.2313; 8App.2583.)

***Plaintiffs Assert A Novel Negligence Claim Based On A Duty To Promptly Bring A New Product To Market***

Thousands of Plaintiffs sued Gilead claiming to have suffered the bone and kidney side effects disclosed on TDF's label. Plaintiffs do not allege TDF is ineffective—indeed, many are alive today because of TDF. And Plaintiffs “do not seek to prove that TDF-containing medications are defective.” (Op. 7; accord Op. 2, 12.) That means Plaintiffs do not contest that TDF is reasonably safe—that its benefits outweigh its risks. (COA.Arg.Tr. 41.) To the contrary, Plaintiffs concede that “TDF ... ha[s] greatly helped patients with HIV” (*ibid.*), and “for a variety of reasons, some physicians and patients prefer TDF over TAF.” (Pls.' Suppl. COA Br. 22.) Plaintiffs also do not dispute the adequacy of TDF's warnings. (1App.99-100.)

Instead, Plaintiffs assert an unprecedented duty: that Gilead should have brought TAF to market earlier to give them an alternative choice to TDF. Plaintiffs agree that when FDA approved the first TDF medicine, “TAF was not a safer alternative yet” because “[i]t was still in development.”

(COA.Arg.Tr. 43.) Nevertheless, Plaintiffs claim that everything changed once Gilead obtained the data from the 14-day, 30-person Study 1101. Based on that study, Plaintiffs claim that, in 2004, Gilead “knew, or should have known, ... that TAF [wa]s safer than TDF.” (1App.69.) They argue that Gilead therefore had a duty “to commercialize a TAF-based medication.” (Op. 7.) They take this position even though Study 1101 concluded that TDF and TAF had “similar” safety profiles and two of Plaintiffs’ own experts concede that Gilead did not know that TAF was safer than TDF in 2004. (7App.2301; 2App.443-46; 2App.410-12, 414-15.)

Central to Plaintiffs’ claim is an allegation of Gilead’s motive for the delay. They allege that Gilead delayed a safer TAF in 2004 so it could “extend its patent protection” (Pls.’ Supp. Reply COA Br. 43) on tenofovir medicines and make more money in a window of time at least 13 years later (2017-2021), between the then-forecasted expiration of TDF and TAF patents. (10App.3015-16; Ret. 14-16.) But the undisputed record belies that allegation.

Gilead laid out two alternative paths based on how TAF performed in humans. Gilead would follow Path 1 if TAF met the criteria demonstrating a meaningful improvement over TDF. (6App.1901; 7App.2314.) If so, Gilead would go all-in on TAF, proceeding with a full development strategy. Gilead estimated an *improved* medicine could yield an extra \$1 billion over expected TDF revenues between 2008 and 2013. (7App.2314-15.) Gilead would then purposely “cannibalize” TDF’s market share—i.e.,

shift TDF's entire patient population to TAF—and bring in additional revenue by expanding to new patients. (6App.1901, 1922.)

Path 2 was if TAF turned out *not* to be superior to TDF. (See 7App.2202-04.) In that scenario, there would be no reason to rush TAF to market; it would only “cannibalize Viread” (7App.2153) *without* helping current patients or attracting new ones. In that scenario—where TAF was *not* superior—Gilead could try to take advantage of possibly later-expiring TAF patents by shifting TDF patients to TAF after generic versions of TDF medicines became available. (*Ibid.*; 7App.2276.) In contrast to the billion dollars of extra revenue Gilead projected between 2008 and 2013 under Path 1 (7App.2314-15), Gilead would see no added revenue from TAF under Path 2 during that period, just the possibility of much smaller additional revenues at least 13 years later for the brief period of time between the TDF and TAF patents' then-anticipated expirations. (7App.2205, 2209; 7App.2153.)

Not a single document shows that Gilead ever considered delaying TAF development if data showed TAF to be a meaningful improvement over TDF.

***The Courts Below Allow Plaintiffs' Negligence Claim To Proceed***

Gilead moved for summary judgment on issues common to all Plaintiffs' cases. (1App.109-44.) As relevant here, Gilead argued that it had no duty to develop and market TAF earlier.

(1App.131-34.) The Superior Court denied Gilead’s motion.  
(10App.3246.)

Gilead petitioned for a writ of mandate. The Court of Appeal granted the writ as to some claims, but allowed Plaintiffs’ negligence claim to proceed. (Op. 3-4.) The court rejected the central tenet of products-liability law—that a manufacturer satisfies its duty to consumers by marketing reasonably safe, defect-free products. (Op. 12-34.) It held that a manufacturer’s duty “to exercise reasonable care can ... extend beyond the duty not to market a defective product” (Op. 3), reasoning that Civil Code § 1714 supplies a broader duty of care (Op. 9, 34). The court then determined that no “exception” to this broader duty of care is warranted under the factors enumerated in *Rowland v. Christian* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 108. (Op. 3, 34-59.)

In determining that no exception from the duty was warranted, the court limited its analysis to where a manufacturer “knows [a new product] is a safer, and at least equally effective, alternative” to the existing non-defective product. (Op. 11; see Op. 39-40, 47.) The court drew the “actual knowledge” predicate from Plaintiffs’ allegations, not from proof in the summary-judgment record, as required. (See *Parker v. Twentieth Century-Fox Film Corp.* (1970) 3 Cal.3d 176, 181.) The court acknowledged that Plaintiffs’ complaint alleges “that Gilead knew ‘or should have known’ that TAF was safer than TDF.” (Op. 11 & fn.5, italics added.) But it took “no position on whether plaintiffs should be permitted to include a constructive knowledge theory on remand,” though the court observed that

constructive knowledge would require “a different *Rowland* analysis” and would present greater “challeng[es]” on several factors. (*Ibid.*; Op. 40.)

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