**S283862**

---

---

**IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

---

GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.,  
*Petitioner,*

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,  
COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO,  
*Respondent,*

GILEAD TENOFOVIR CASES,  
*Real Parties in Interest.*

---

AFTER A DECISION BY THE CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL  
FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIV. 4, CASE No. A165558  
SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE No. CJC-19-005043  
HON. ANDREW Y.S. CHENG, TRIAL JUDGE

---

**PLAINTIFFS' ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

---

**GRANT & EISENHOFER P.A.**  
M. Elizabeth Graham, SBN 143085  
201 Mission Street, Suite 1200  
San Francisco, California 94105  
Telephone: (415) 229-9720

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### THE APPROPRIATE FRAMEWORK FOR THE ANALYSIS OF LIABILITY

“California law establishes the general duty of each person to exercise, in his or her activities, reasonable care for the safety of others. (Civ. Code, § 1714, subd. (a).)” (*Cabral v. Ralphs Grocery Co.* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 764, 770.) Section 1714 provides in relevant part: “Everyone is responsible, not only for the result of his or her willful acts, but also for an injury occasioned to another by his or her want of ordinary care or skill in the management of his or her property or person.” (Civ. Code, § 1714(a); see also *Kuciemba v. Victory Woodworks, Inc.* (2023) 14 Cal.5th 993, 1016 [“The ‘general rule’ of duty in California is established by statute”].) The “*basic policy of this State* set forth by the Legislature in section 1714” is that liability is imposed for injury occasioned to another by want of ordinary care or skill. (*Rowland*, 69 Cal.2d at 118–119.) “[I]n the *absence of* statutory provision declaring an exception to the fundamental principle enunciated by section 1714 ... no such exception should be made unless *clearly* supported by public policy.” (*Id.* at 112, italics added.)

Despite a substantial body of case law on the two-step analysis of duty, where the court first considers whether a duty exists under section 1714 or some other source, and second, looks to the *Rowland* factors to determine whether a categorical exception should be made for a certain category of conduct or defendants, Gilead argues that the court here erred in *creating* a “new duty” for product manufacturers. (POB:41; see also Pet. Review:8,14,17 [arguing that the court imposed a “radical” “new duty”].) And it accuses the Court of “appl[ying] the wrong legal framework” in its duty analysis. (POB:38.) Gilead asserts that under *Parsons v. Crown Disposal Co.* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 456, the burden is on Plaintiffs to justify creation of the “new duty” alleged here. (POB:41-42.)

This misrepresents *Parsons* and ignores settled California law. *Parsons* began its analysis by recognizing the duty owed by the defendant and then considered whether the *Rowland* factors warranted an exception. (*Id.* at 472–475.) And this Court has repeatedly clarified in the decades since *Parsons* that section 1714’s default rule of duty is the “starting point for [its] duty analysis.” (*Kuciemba*, 14 Cal.5th at 1018; see also *Cabral*, 51 Cal.4th at 783 [“The question is not whether a *new duty* should be created, but whether an *exception* to Civil Code section 1714’s duty of exercising ordinary care in one’s activities ... should be created.”].)

Gilead gets the proper framework backwards: Under section 1714, this Court presumes the defendant owed the plaintiff a duty of care and then considers whether “carving out an entire category of cases from that general duty rule is justified by clear considerations of policy.” (*Kesner v. Superior Court* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 1132, 1145.) Manufacturers owe users of their products a duty of reasonable care and California law does not categorically limit this duty to simply producing a non-defective product. (Argument II, *infra.*) And while Gilead has repeatedly refused to “resort” to a *Rowland* analysis (Reply.Return:20), nothing now argued by Gilead justifies an exception to the duty owed here. (Argument III, *infra.*)

## II.

### **A DRUG MANUFACTURER’S DUTY TO USERS OF A DRUG IT IS CURRENTLY SELLING IS *NOT* CONSTRAINED BY PROOF OF DEFECT**

Gilead’s appeal rests on its contention that a manufacturer cannot be held liable in negligence for injury caused by its product without proof of a defect. “Defect” is a legal term of art that limits the circumstances under which strict products liability applies. While a “defect” in the product is a predicate to any claim for strict products liability, it is *not* a limitation on a claim for ordinary negligence against a manufacturer.

#### **A. Under Section 1714, A Drug Manufacturer Has A General Duty Of Care To Users Of A Drug It Is Currently Selling.**

Section 1714 “establishes the *default rule* that each person has a duty ‘to exercise, in his or her activities, reasonable care for the safety of others.’” (*Brown v. USA Taekwondo* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 204, 214, italics added.) “[W]henver one person is by circumstances placed in such a position with regard to another ... that if he did not use ordinary care and skill in his own conduct ... he would cause danger of injury to the person or property of the other, a duty arises to use ordinary care and skill to avoid such danger.” (*Rowland*, 69 Cal.2d at 118-119.) The default rule of duty applies “when it is the defendant who has “created a risk” of harm to the plaintiff, including when “the defendant is responsible for making the plaintiff’s position worse.”” (*USA Taekwondo*, 11 Cal.5th at 214.) “The proper question ... is ... whether the defendant’s “entire conduct created a risk of harm” to the plaintiff.” (*Kuciemba*, 14 Cal.5th at 1017, quoting *USA Taekwondo*, at 215, fn. 6.)

Gilead did not argue below, and does not now argue, that it owed *no duty* to Plaintiffs. (*Gilead*, 98 Cal.App.5th at 919-920; 1App:132; 10App:3246-3247.) Rather, Gilead’s position is that “[b]ecause Plaintiffs

do not assert that the TDF medicines are *defective*, their negligence claim cannot survive summary judgment.” (POB:33, italics added.)

Gilead’s acknowledgement of its duty is unsurprising: There is no question that the duty to take ordinary care in one’s activities under section 1714 applies to a manufacturer of prescription drugs and is owed to the users of such drugs. (See *Bettencourt v. Hennessy Indus., Inc.* (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 1103, 1117-1119 [“Under established California law, a manufacturer ... owes a duty of care to foreseeable users of its product.”].)

As framed by the allegations and supported by the evidence, Gilead sold Plaintiffs a drug with harmful side effects (TDF) and delayed the development of a “safer, more effective” alternative drug (TAF). (1App:45, 47–48.) As the Court of Appeal aptly concluded, Gilead “created the risk of harm to plaintiffs by selling TDF, a drug with harmful side effects[.]” (*Gilead*, 98 Cal.App.5th at 935.) And Gilead made Plaintiffs’ “position worse” (*USA Taekwondo*, 11 Cal.5th at 214) by pausing—for nearly a decade—the development of an alternative drug without the same adverse effects. (1App:46.) As Gilead held the “exclusive rights to develop, manufacture, distribute and sell ... tenofovir,” its conduct deprived Plaintiffs of an essential choice in their battle with HIV/AIDS and needlessly “exposed [them] to a more toxic form of the drug[.]” (1App:45–46.) Because Gilead’s “entire conduct created a risk of harm” (*Kuciemba*, 14 Cal.5th at 1017), section 1714’s default rule of duty applies.

Gilead contends that the Court of Appeal erred in its analysis of section 1714. (POB:39.) First, it accuses the Court of assuming that section 1714 imposes a “free-floating duty of care” even though it “does not modify or supplement common law duties; it *subsumes* them.” (*Ibid.*, italics added.) According to Gilead, section 1714 *only* requires compliance

with the “traditional duties that products-liability law imposes on manufacturers.” (*Ibid.*)<sup>4</sup>

As discussed below, Gilead is mistaken: California has *never* conditioned a manufacturer’s liability in negligence for harm caused by its product on proof that the product was defective. But even if Gilead were right, section 1714 “states a civil law and not a common law principle.” (*Hoffmann v. Young* (2022) 13 Cal.5th 1257, 1266, quoting *Rowland*, 69 Cal.2d at 112.) Thus, in *Rowland*, this Court relied on section 1714 to replace the common-law concept of landowner liability based on an entrant’s status with an application of liability based on ordinary principles of negligence. (*Rowland*, 69 Cal.2d at 115–119; see also *Sprecher v. Adamson Companies* (1981) 30 Cal.3d 358, 363 [rejecting common law rule of absolute immunity that was inconsistent with policy embodied in section 1714].) *Rowland* squarely contradicts Gilead’s claim that section 1714 merely “subsumes” a defendant’s common law duties. And Gilead’s narrow interpretation of Section 1714 is impossible to square with this Court’s cases grounding novel applications of the duty to use ordinary care on the policy outlined in the statute. (See, e.g., *Kesner*, 1 Cal.5th at 1142–1143 [Section 1714 “establishes a general duty to exercise ordinary care in one’s activities [including] the use of asbestos in one’s business”].)

Second, Gilead proclaims that it is “absurd to suggest that the duty the Court of Appeal recognized has existed since 1872 and no one thought to invoke it.” (POB:39.) But this is the *rare* case in which a plaintiff has evidence that a drug manufacturer had a safer and more effective drug but chose not to proceed with that drug for profit. And more fundamentally, it

---

<sup>4</sup> Gilead fails to define “products-liability law,” but appears to be referring to the duties recognized in the *strict* products liability context. It then equates “traditional products liability law” with “common law” without accounting for the distinctive principles recognized in negligence actions.

is *irrelevant* that section 1714 has not been previously applied in this setting. (See, e.g., *Kuciemba*, 14 Cal.5th at 1020–1021 [concluding that section 1714 imposes a general duty of care on employers to prevent the spread of COVID-19 to employees and their household members].) Section 1714 was not enacted to “insulate the matters therein expressed from further judicial development” and was intended to permit “continuing judicial evolution.” (*Li v. Yellow Cab Co.* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 804, 814.)

Third, Gilead asserts that Plaintiffs’ challenge to its failure to commercialize TAF sooner “violates” section 1714’s distinction between “misfeasance and nonfeasance.” (POB:40, citing *USA Taekwondo*, 11 Cal.5th at 214.) But *USA Taekwondo* referred to this distinction “in support of the general rule that a party has no duty to prevent harm by a *third person*,” rather than to suggest “that a party’s failure to act *cannot constitute* a breach of the duty of reasonable care.” (*Gilead*, 98 Cal.App.5th at 935, italics added.) As the *USA Taekwondo* Court itself emphasized, the distinction between “misfeasance” and “nonfeasance” is “imprecise and prone to misinterpretation.” (*USA Taekwondo*, 11 Cal.5th at 215, fn. 6.) “‘The proper question is not whether an actor’s failure to exercise reasonable care entails the commission or omission of a specific act.’ ... Rather, it is ‘whether the actor’s entire conduct created a risk of harm.’” (*Ibid.*) Here, Gilead’s “entire conduct”—marketing a drug with harmful side effects and delaying the commercialization of a safer, equally effective alternative in its possession—created a risk of harm to Plaintiffs that gave rise to a general duty of care.

Under this Court’s settled framework, a drug manufacturer—like Gilead—owes a general duty of care under section 1714 to users of a drug it is currently selling *unless* an exception is declared by statute or “‘clearly supported by public policy.’” (*USA Taekwondo*, 11 Cal.5th at 217.)

**B. There is No “Proof of Defect” Requirement for Negligence Claims Against Drug Manufacturers.**

According to Gilead, a manufacturer can *never* be liable in negligence for harm its product causes without proof of a defect. (POB:9.) Yet Gilead fails to cite a *single* California case holding that a manufacturer’s duty of care to its consumers is categorically limited to not producing a defective product. Further, Gilead ignores the many California cases rejecting the notion that a finding of “no product defect” necessarily precludes a finding of negligence by a product manufacturer. (See, e.g., *Mexicali Rose v. Superior Court* (1992) 1 Cal.4th 617, 633 [manufacturer of foodstuffs may be liable for negligently causing harm to a consumer even though the food product was not defective under strict products liability law]; *Stevens v. Parke, Davis & Co.* (1973) 9 Cal.3d 51, 58, 64–68 [drug manufacturer liable in negligence for overpromoting drug despite trial court granting nonsuit on strict liability claim]; *Hasson v. Ford Motor Co.* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 530, 530–531, 542 [“failure to find a ‘defect’ ... would not necessarily preclude all liability” for a product manufacturer]; *T.H. v. Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corp.* (2017) 4 Cal.5th 145, 177, fn. 4 [strict products liability and negligence are “separate and distinct bases for liability”]; *Hernandez v. Badger Construction Equipment Co.* (1994) 28 Cal.App.4th 1791, 1826–1827 [a finding that a product “had no design defect [does] not preclude a finding [the defendant] was nonetheless negligent,” especially where the plaintiff presents “evidence on negligence quite apart from [a] design issue”]; *Lunghi v. Clark Equipment Co.* (1984) 153 Cal.App.3d 485, 494 [despite jury’s finding of no defect in the product’s design, trial court erred in refusing to instruct jury on negligence where there was evidence of negligence outside design of product itself]; *Scott v. C.R. Bard, Inc.* (2014) 231 Cal.App.4th 763, 777–778 [despite finding of no defect, verdict as to negligence on multiple non-defect

theories affirmed on appeal]; see also *Ileto v. Glock Inc.* (9th Cir. 2003) 349 F.3d 1191, 1201 [no bar to a non-defect negligence claim against product manufacturer].)

As explained by the Court of Appeal, Gilead misapprehends the fundamental distinction between strict products liability and negligence causes of action. (*Gilead*, 98 Cal.App.5th at 923–924, 931.)

The doctrine of strict products liability was adopted to “insure that the costs of injuries resulting from defective products are borne by the manufacturers that put such products on the market rather than by the injured persons who are powerless to protect themselves.” (*Greenman v. Yuba Power Products, Inc.* (1963) 59 Cal.2d 57, 63.) “A manufacturer is strictly liable in tort when an article he places on the market, knowing that it is to be used without inspection for defects, proves to have a defect that causes injury to a human being.” (*Cronin v. J.B.E. Olson Corp.* (1972) 8 Cal.3d 121, 130.) The doctrine of strict liability “was intended to simplify a consumer plaintiff’s evidentiary burden, as well as to serve the public policy function of placing the financial burdens associated with defective products on manufacturers, who are liable regardless of any fault in their conduct.” (*Gilead*, 98 Cal.App.5th at 923.)

Strict products liability, unlike negligence, focuses on the nature of the product rather than the manufacturer’s conduct with respect to the product. (*Barker v. Lull Eng’g Co.* (1978) 20 Cal.3d 413, 434.) To prevent strict liability from becoming absolute liability, the predicate for any claim for strict products liability is a showing of a “defect” in the product. (*Cronin*, 8 Cal.3d at 133–134.) As explained by the Court of Appeal, the requirement to prove a product defect is “necessary to constrain the reach of strict liability,” *whereas* for negligence claims, “the requirement of a duty of care imposes its own limits on the potential scope of liability, governed by an array of policy considerations as they bear on a particular

context.” (*Gilead*, 98 Cal.App.5th at 924.) Thus, “[t]he adoption of strict liability in *Greenman* did not purport to displace negligence as a cause of action.” (*Ibid.*)<sup>5</sup>

While a defect in the product is a predicate to any claim for strict products liability, the same is not true for all negligence claims against a manufacturer. (See, e.g., *T.H.*, 4 Cal.5th at 163, 175–177 & fn. 4; *Conte v. Wyeth, Inc.* (2008) 168 Cal.App.4th 89, 108.) Requirements of strict liability do not *restrict* theories of negligence against drug manufacturers.<sup>6</sup>

This Court’s decision in *Mexicali Rose* is instructive. The plaintiff was injured after he swallowed a chicken bone contained in an enchilada while dining at defendants’ restaurant. (*Mexicali Rose*, 1 Cal.4th at 620.) Plaintiff alleged that defendants were “liable in negligence for their failure to exercise reasonable care in the preparation of the food” *and* “strictly liable because the food item was ‘defective’ under the theory of Restatement Second of Torts section 402A, comment i, imposing strict liability when food is ‘dangerous beyond that which would be contemplated by the ordinary consumer who purchases it[.]’” (*Ibid.*) This Court

---

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